FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/22/2020 4:01 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99143-0

Court of Appels, Division I, No. 80218-6-1 [Consolidated With No. 80310-7-1]

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HALEY A. ANDERSON, DEAN ANDERSON, and JODIE ANDERSON,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

SNOHOMISH SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 201, a municipal corporation, PETER WILSON and JANE DOE WILSON, husband and wife and their marital community, WENDY NELSON and JOHN DOE NELSON, wife and husband and their marital community,

Defendants/Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Counsel for Plaintiffs/Appellants

RUSSELL & HILL, PLLC

Brandon K. Batchelor, WSBA No. 42477

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Plaintiffs Haley, Dean, and Jodie Anderson ("plaintiffs") ask this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review in part B of this petition.¹

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Plaintiffs seek review of the unpublished Court of Appeals decision affirming summary judgment in favor of Defendants/Respondents Snohomish School District No. 201 ("District"), Peter Wilson ("Wilson"), and Wendy Nelson ("Nelson"). *See Anderson v. Snohomish School District No. 201*, -- Wn.App. --, -- P.3d --, 2020 WL 4938395 (Wn.App., Div. 1, Aug. 24, 2020). (Motion for Reconsideration denied Sept. 22, 2020). A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-17. A copy of the order denying petitioners' motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-18.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This action arises from personal injuries suffered by Haley after she suffered a concussion while on a school field trip. The Court of Appeals decision raises the following issues:

1. Whether a reasonable juror could determine, based on the facts presented by the plaintiffs, that the District failed to act with ordinary and reasonable care in response to Haley's injury. In particular:

¹ When referenced individually in the brief, the plaintiffs are referred to by their first name.

- a. Whether a genuine issue of material fact exists regarding whether Nelson's actions were that of an ordinarily responsible and prudent person, given her lack of medical training and/or ability to properly diagnose concussion.
- b. Whether the District complied with its duty of care when its agent Nelson unquestionably gave a student in its custody incorrect information about whether she was concussed, and the student relied upon that incorrect information to her detriment.
- 2. Whether a question of fact exists for the jury to determine when the parties offer differing District policies to evidence whether the District acted with ordinary care. In particular:
- a. Whether it is a question of fact for a jury to determine the applicability of District policies when the defendants seek to apply one policy (3431) and the plaintiffs argue different policies (2320P and Duties and Responsibilities of Adult Supervisors/Chaperones Accompanying Students on Instructional Field Trips) should apply to the set of facts giving rise to the injury and subsequent determination of ordinary care.
- b. Whether the District's duty under its own policies can be discharged to a minor student who has, prior to discharge of the duty, been provided incorrect information about an injury by a District agent, and was suffering from a concussion.
- 3. Whether the District's knowledge regarding head injuries, which it possessed prior to Haley's injuries, can inform foreseeability as it relates to

Haley's injuries, even if that knowledge was possessed because of a non-related statute; and whether foreseeability of the harm suffered by Haley creates an issue of fact as to the District's duty of ordinary care.

4. Whether the appellate court's ruling touches upon an issue of such substantial public interest – protecting students in the custody of a school from avoidable head injuries – that it should be resolved by the Washington Supreme Court.

What is not at issue here is any alleged negligence of the plaintiffs, either by way of Haley's actions while on the field trip or Dean/Jodie's response to information from Haley.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Restatement of Incident Facts

Haley suffered a concussion while at Disneyland on a school band trip on April 8, 2014. At the time, Haley was in the custody of the District. She suffered the initial concussion while riding the Matterhorn ride. Adult supervisor, chaperone, and/or Trip Coordinator Nelson knew Haley complained of hitting her head and having a headache on April 8, 2014. Nelson is, without dispute, an agent of the District and the District is liable for her actions relevant to this matter. After the initial report of a head injury on April 8, 2014, Haley did not make additional complaints while on the trip and continued to participate in some field trip activities. Upon her return to Washington, Haley sought treatment for and was diagnosed with a concussion. Haley did not return to school for most of the remainder of

the school year. Haley's child neurologist opined that Haley suffered from second impact syndrome after her initial concussion because she remained physically and cognitively active between April 8 and April 13. The appellate court acknowledged that Haley suffered severe and lasting symptoms that continue to affect her life.

The band trip was planned by Nelson and Wilson. Nelson led many of the pre-trip meetings and she prepared meeting minutes/agendas to be given to students and chaperones during the meetings. There is no indication that the District, Nelson, or Wilson provided any District forms, policies, or procedures were provided or discussed in preparation for the trip. CP960-963, CP965-968, CP974-976. Nelson has no recollection of discussing concussions, head injuries, or other student illnesses during the planning meetings. CP976, CP974.

On April 8, 2014, Haley hit her head while riding on the Matterhorn ride at Disneyland. After she hit her head, Haley did not feel well and had difficulty walking from the park to her hotel room at the end of the night. CP916-922; CP928. Another student, Ciara Benson, informed Nelson that Haley had hit her head. This information was passed to Nelson while the group of students and chaperones walked to their hotel at the end of the night on April 8, 2014. CP934-935, CP937, CP940-941. Haley went to her hotel room upon returning to the hotel, with assistance from her then-boyfriend, student Mitchell Gibbs. CP916-922. Student Gibbs informed Nelson that Haley had been having difficulty walking to the hotel, that she

had not been feeling well, that she appeared uncomfortable, that she had fallen asleep at the park and was difficult to awaken, and that she had said she was dizzy. CP942-946.

Nelson came into Haley's hotel room and took her into the courtyard of the hotel where she had a conversation with her. CP916-922. Haley's group chaperone, Julie Bailey, was present at the conversation as well. Id.

Nelson mentioned to Haley that Nelson's husband had a job that required first-aid training, possibly a paramedic or firefighter, but Haley could not recall what job. Id. In her deposition, Nelson revealed that her husband was a police officer at the time of the 2014 band trip. CP988. Nelson stated that she had called her husband regarding concussion symptoms and then looked into Haley's eyes and stated that Haley did not "look concussiony." CP916-922. Nelson has no medical training. CP980. CP916-922. Mitchell Gibbs observed, but did not hear, the conversation between Haley and Nelson. CP942-946. Nelson told Haley to contact her parents, and Haley sent the following text to Dean:

"Hey, I hit my head pretty hard while I was on the Matterhorn today about 2-3 hours ago. I'm just texting to let you know in case you get a call from [band director Peter] Wilson or [Nelson] tomorrow about me. I didn't call because I don't want to wake you all up. I'm sure I'm fine, but I wanted to let you know just in case. Good night. I love you all and I'll call you tomorrow."

Nelson took no further action with respect to Haley's injury. She did not contact Haley's parents, she did not attempt to have her evaluated by a medical professional, she did not discuss the issue with other chaperones on the trip, and she did not inform the Staff Member in Charge

on the trip Wilson. CP969-973, CP985, CP987. Nelson did not specifically follow-up with Haley about the injury, other than generic questions to groups of students that included Haley. CP983-984.

After April 8, 2014, Haley continued to participate in trip activities. She continued to have symptoms as well. She did not report the matter further to Nelson, Wilson, her parents, or her assigned chaperones. She testified that while she continued to have symptoms, she did not report them because the Trip Coordinator had said she did not appear to have a concussion. CP923-924. She was 17 years old at the time.

In addition, there was a nurse who attended the trip. Wilson believed that "everyone would have known that" a nurse was on the trip. CP992-994. Nelson did not discuss the head injury with the nurse.

Nelson prepared a written statement several months after the trip. In the statement, she admitted knowing that Haley had hit her head and that she had a headache. CP998. In her statement, Nelson describes Haley's injury as a "non-issue." The District has since testified that it does not agree with this characterization. CP1001.

Haley was diagnosed with a concussion upon returning home from the field trip. A concussion protocol was developed by the District. Haley also suffered from second impact syndrome after her initial injury. Haley's head injury on the Matterhorn was increased, prolonged, and exacerbated by the fact that her concussion was not diagnosed properly, and she continued activity in the days following the concussion CP1056-1057. A

second impact syndrome can be caused by physical activity in the days after a concussion because of increased cerebro-vascular flow. Id. This is precisely what occurred with Haley after she was told by Nelson that she was not "concussiony."

Haley's life after returning to school was impaired. Prior to the injury, Haley was in advanced placement classes and earning college credit. These courses were equal to a 200-level college courses. CP677. Her school transcript shows that she was going to attend university. After her injury, her class load had to be decreased because she was having difficulty. CP682. She was placed on a 504² plan. Id. She did not have a 504 plan prior to the concussion. Her plan indicated that she was in post-concussion care and needed accommodations. Id. Her schedule during her senior year was limited and accommodations were made for her. Id. Her absences from school increased markedly. CP683.

She graduated high school on time but did not attend university which was her plan. Instead, she has struggled to earn an associate's degree at Everett Community College ("ECC"). She is currently on an accommodation plan at ECC to assist with her continuing post-concussive symptoms. CP23-24.

² Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, which allows accommodation for students with medical disabilities.

2. Relevant School Policies

2320. "Carefully planned, skillfully supervised, and wisely interpreted field trips are valuable extensions of the classroom experience." "The safety of students has primary consideration." CP1026, A-19

2320P. "Field trips provide a valuable contribution to a child's education when they are well planned and enhance the classroom experience." "Trips to water parks will not be approved, even when in conjunction with another approved educational or athletic activity." "When a student emergency occurs away from school, the student will be evaluated by the staff member in charge. The staff member in charge will notify the building administrator." The *Duties and Responsibilities of Adult Supervisors Form* will be provided to each chaperone by the staff member in charge. CP1028-1030, A-20.

<u>Duties and Responsibilities of Adult Supervisors/Chaperones</u>
<u>Accompanying Students on Instructional Field Trips.</u> CP1034. "Help ensure prompt medical care if anyone becomes injured or ill." This form is required to be provided by policy 2320P, A-23.

3431. "[S]chools are responsible for providing first aid or emergency treatment in case of sudden illness or injury to a student," "further medical attention is the responsibility of the parent or guardian." "When a student is ill or injured it is the responsibility of the staff to see that immediate care and attention is given the injured party until relieved by a supervisor, a nurse or a doctor. Word of the illness or accidents should be

sent to the principal's office and to the nurse. The principal or designated staff should immediately contact the parent so that the parent can arrange for care or treatment of the ill or injured." CP1036, A-24.

2151F4 – Concussion Form. "A concussion is a brain injury and all brain injuries are serious. They are caused by a bump, blow, or jolt to the head. They can range from mild to severe and can disrupt the way the brain normally works. Even though most concussions are mild, all concussions are potentially serious and may result in complications including prolonged brain damage and death if not recognized and managed properly. In other words, even a "ding" or a bump on the head can be serious. You can't see a concussion and most sports concussions occur without loss of consciousness. Signs and symptoms of concussion may show up right after the injury or can take hours or days to fully appear. If your child reports any symptoms of a concussion, or if you notice symptoms or signs of concussion yourself, seek medical attention right away." "Athletes with signs and symptoms of concussion should be removed from play immediately. Continuing to play with the signs and symptoms of a concussion leaves the young athlete especially vulnerable to greater injury. There is an increased risk of significant damages from a concussion for a period of time after that concussion occurs, particularly if the athlete suffers another concussion before completely recovering from the first one. This can lead to prolonged recovery, or even to severe brain swelling (second impact syndrome) with devastating and even fatal consequences. It is well

known that adolescent or teenage athlete will often under report symptoms of injuries. And concussions are no different. As a result, education of administrators, coaches, parents, and students is the key for a student-athlete's safety." CP1043-1044, A-25.

The Superior Court dismissed plaintiffs' claims. The Court of Appeals affirmed. A-1 through A-17. The appellate court determined that there was no evidence to indicate that the District had a duty to seek medical attention for Haley on April 8 or 9, 2014. The appellate court's opinion limits its inquiry to those two dates for reasons that remain unclear. The appellate court also determined that Dean and Jodie were notified of Haley's injury, fulfilling the duty outlined in District policy 3431, but they did not take further action regarding the injury. The appellate court indicates that Haley did not require emergency medical care at the time she reported her concussion, which is not in dispute. Instead, Haley's neurological expert opines that proper care would have been to limit her activity. The appellate court does not opine regarding Nelson's intervention and analysis of Haley, which culminated in Nelson providing undisputably incorrect information to Haley, a minor, about her concussion. Instead, it appears the appellate court considers Haley's text to her parents after Nelson's incorrect analysis to have cured this defect. The appellate court did not consider the District's Concussion Form (2151F4) to have evidenced foreseeability of non-athlete brain injuries because the District promulgated the form under the auspice of RCW 28A.600.190, which applies only to student athletes. Ultimately,

the appellate court determined there was no evidence the District breached its duty to Haley.

E. ARGUMENT – WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The decision below conflicts with precedent from this Court regarding the questions of breach of duty of ordinary care, as it applies to a school District's duty to a student in its custody, and whether determination of breach is properly for a jury when genuine issues of material fact exist.

The duty owed by a school to a student in its custody has been repeated throughout the briefing in this matter.

As the appellate court stated, regarding the District's duty to Haley:

In Washington, school districts have "an enhanced and solemn duty to protect minor students in [their] care." <u>Christensen v. Royal Sch. Dist. No. 160</u>, 156 Wn.2d 62, 67, 124 P.3d 283 (2005). They must exercise the care that an ordinarily responsible and prudent person would exercise under the same or similar circumstances. N.L., 186 Wn.2d at 430." A-9-10.

Once a duty is determined to exist, including the duty of reasonable care, it is usually for a jury to decide whether a defendant has breached. *Moore v. Hagge*, 158 Wash.App. 137, 241 P.3d 787 (Div. 1 2010) *review denied* 171 Wash.2d 1004, 249 P.3d 181 (2011). This includes the jury question of a school District's duty of ordinary care. *N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist.* 186 Wn.2d 422, 378 P.3d 162 (2016). It is the fact finder who must determine what constitutes reasonable care under the given circumstances of a case unless <u>no reasonable mind</u> could differ. The appellate court has determined in this case this question should not be answered by a jury. Plaintiff respectfully contends that the appellate court has disregarded

significant evidence that a jury could rely on to determine the District breached its duty of ordinary care.

First, the actions of Nelson were not within the scope of ordinary care. Haley was concussed when she encountered Nelson on April 8, 2014. Nelson was told by Haley and two other students that Haley had hit her head and she was experiencing symptoms. Nelson was not trained to determine whether Haley had a concussion and had no medical experience. Nelson evaluated Haley and indicated to her that she did not appear concussed. Haley relied upon that information both when she communicated her injury to Jodie and Dean, and throughout the remainder of the band trip. The District, through its agent, misinformed Haley. It is certainly within the realm of reason that a jury could determine the District failed to act with ordinary care because of the actions of Nelson.

Nelson was an agent of the District. She had a duty to act in the manner a reasonably prudent person would act. She made the situation worse than if she had done nothing, because Haley relied on Nelson's incorrect information. It is analogous to a person who undertakes to give aid in a rescue situation. Even if Nelson owed no other duty to Haley, once she determined to render aid, she must do so without negligence. In rendering aid to Haley, Nelson had a duty to not make the situation worse

or mislead Haley into believing she was not in danger. See generally *Folsom* v. *Burger King*, 135 Wash.2d 658, 958 P.2d 301 (1998).³

Second, there is a dispute between the parties as to which District policy would apply to the circumstances of Haley's injuries. Evidence of a breach of District policy could be used by a jury to determine whether the District acted with ordinary care in its response to Haley's injury. The District wants to apply policy 3141, which is a policy of general applicability. The District seeks to use this policy to argue that it owes no duty to provide for student medical care in a non-emergent situation and to argue that its duty was discharged when Haley informed her parents of her injury (even in the context of an out-of-state field trip involving a concussed student). Plaintiffs allege that the applicable duty for response to student injury while on a field trip is promulgated under policy 2320P and the Duties and Responsibilities of Adult Supervisors/Chaperones Accompanying Students on Instructional Field Trips document. A question exists, which should be determined by the jury, as to which of these policies apply, and whether the District met its duty under the applicable policy. Because of Nelson's action and inaction, both on April 8, 2014 and thereafter, a jury may determine she breached the field trip policy and, thereby, her duty of ordinary care, by failing to help ensure prompt medical care in response to Haley's injury.

³ The question of whether Nelson's intervention with Haley created a duty for her to act with reasonable care in that response was briefed to the appellate court, but not discussed in its ruling.

Third, even if the District's chosen policy is the applicable to Haley's injury, a reasonable juror could determine that the District failed to act with ordinary care in attempting to discharge its duty after Nelson gave Haley wrong information about her concussion. The District has argued that it met its duty under policy 3141 through Haley when she contacted her parents after her injury. Ignoring the field trip policies entirely, and assuming policy 3141 can be effectuated by instructing a concussed minor student to communicate with parents instead of the school District, the information the District gave Haley about her concussion in this case was unquestionably wrong. Nelson led Haley to believe she was not concussed, which is what she told her parents. A jury could certainly find that the District did not act with ordinary care, even under the auspice of policy 3141, when its agent poisoned the well and sent Haley to speak to her parents with bad information.

Based on the foregoing, the appellate court has disregarded evidence that a jury could rely on in determining the District failed to act with ordinary care in responding to Haley's injuries. In doing so, the decision below conflicts with precedent, especially precedent which secures this question for the jury to determine.

2. The decision below conflicts with precedent from this Court regarding questions of foreseeability of harm.

As the appellate court stated:

"[S]chool districts must take certain precautions to protect the students in their custody from dangers reasonably to be anticipated. Hendrickson v. Moses Lake Sch. Dist., 192 Wn.2d 269,

276, 428 P.3d 1197 (2018). If the harm at issue was reasonably foreseeable, a school district may be liable if it failed to take reasonable steps to prevent that harm. <u>Id.</u> When foreseeability is a question of whether the harm was within the scope of the duty owed, it is a question of fact for the jury. <u>McKown v. Simon Prop. Grp., Inc.</u>, 182 Wn.2d 752, 764, 344 P.3d 661 (2015). The question is whether the actual harm fell within a general field of danger that should have been anticipated. <u>Hendrickson</u>, 192 Wn.2d at 276. A-10.

Where an issue exists as to whether an injury to the plaintiff is foreseeable, the jury may be required to decide issues of fact. *See Joyce v. State*, 155 Wash.2d 306, 119 P.3d 825 (2005). When a plaintiff submits sufficient evidence of foreseeability, summary judgment is not appropriate. *Id.*

Here, the appellate court's decision does not take into account evidence presented by the plaintiff establishing the District's duty to protect Haley from foreseeable harm. As such, it conflicts with precedent set forth by this Court establishing a school District's duty as a product of harm that is reasonably foreseeable to it. Further, the appellate court breaks with precedent which requires the question of whether the harm suffered falls within the scope of duty to be determined by a jury. Here, what the school District knew about head injuries, the need for medical intervention following a head injury, the seriousness of all head injuries, and the potential for serious injury following seemingly minor head injuries is known because the school District outlined it in a written form – 2151F4. While it is possible that form was created because of the adoption of the RCW 28A.600.190, the statute is completely immaterial to the question of

what harm was reasonably foreseeable to the District and whether it met its duty of ordinary care in responding to Haley's head injury.

The question is not why a harm is reasonably foreseeable, but whether a harm is reasonably foreseeable. The source of the knowledge possessed by the District is immaterial. The District knew, unquestionably, that "all brain injuries are serious." The District knew, unquestionably, "[t]here is an increased risk of significant damages from a concussion for a period of time after that concussion occurs".....which "can lead to prolonged recovery, or even to severe brain swelling (second impact syndrome) with devastating and even fatal consequences." The District knew that students under-report symptoms of head injury. This harm is exactly what befell Haley when District agent Nelson improperly assessed her and wrongly informed her she was not concussed. Allowing the District to disavow the foreseeability of this harm because it knew of the harm in the scope of student athletics allows the District to put its head in the sand and escape liability for harm it expressly knew was possible.

This conflicts with precedent establishing a District's duty to protect students from reasonably foreseeable harm. For example, this Court held that the question of whether students skipping practice and leaving campus together was foreseeable, was ultimately a question for the jury in *N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist.* The evidence of foreseeability of student activity and harm caused thereby is arguable much stronger than in <u>N.L.</u>. In *McLeod v. Grant County Sch. Dist. No. 128*, 42 Wash.2d 316, 255, P.2d 360 (1953),

this Court held that sexual assault "fell withing the general field of danger which should have been anticipated" by the defendant school District. *McLeod* 42 Wash.2d at 321-2 (1953).

3. The question of whether the response of a school District to the report of a head injury suffered by a student in its custody presents a substantial question of public interest that should be decided by this Court.

The appellate court below declined to recognize that the District, by and through its agents, breached the duty or ordinary care owed to a student in its custody, as outlined above. The question before the Court presents an issue of substantial public interest, which should be determined by this Court, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4). Plaintiffs respectfully contend that the safety of children in custody of public school districts is of the highest public interest. This is especially true as it relates to concerns of head injuries in minor children.

Analysis of the appellate court's opinion below would suggest that the applicable standard for responding to reports of head injuries allows for a school District to improperly inform a student she is not concussed, direct the student to contact their parents with that wrong information while concussed, and then do nothing else, as the student relies upon the wrongful information to the detriment of her health and future. This standard is, according to the appellate court, not changed by the knowledge of the harm of head injuries possessed by the District at the time of the report, even when that knowledge informs the District that all head injuries are serious, require medical attention, and could lead to additional injury. It is a question

of public interest that Districts, through their agents, do not undertake improper medical analysis of concussions and do not ignore the knowledge

they possess about the severity of head injuries.

As Judge Learned Hand famously stated in *United States v. Carroll*

Towing Co., 159 F.2d 169, 173 (2nd Cir. 1947), a duty in tort arises from a

risk-benefit analysis involving the probability of harm, the gravity of the

resulting harm, and the burden of adequate precautions. Here, the gravity

of harm to Haley and students in her situation is extreme. By comparison,

the burden of adequate precautions – not giving her wrong information

about her concussion, contacting her parents, contacting some medical

personnel, and/or providing her physical and cognitive rest – are low. The

Court should accept review to determine whether the District complied with

its duty of ordinary care as it pertains to Haley, who was a student in school

custody.

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