FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/20/2020 2:49 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99143-0 Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 80218-6-I [Consolidated With No. 80310-7-I]

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HALEY A. ANDERSON, DEAN ANDERSON, and JODIE ANDERSON,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

SNOHOMISH SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 201, a municipal corporation, PETER WILSON and JANE DOE WILSON, husband and wife and their marital community, WENDY NELSON and JOHN DOE NELSON, wife and husband and their marital community,

Defendants/Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JILL SMITH, WSBA #30645 Attorneys for Defendants/Respondents

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

III. ARGUMENT

Plaintiff's Petition does not state either a RAP 13.4(1) or (4) basis for review, and should be denied.

A. Since there is no conflict, there is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(1).

Plaintiff's first claimed basis for review is RAP 13.4(1))—conflict with existing case law. The only asserted conflict is, effectively, that it is typically for the jury to determine whether a duty is breached. (Petition at 11-14). There are scores of cases holding that while breach is *typically* a jury question, summary judgment is appropriate where, as here, reasonable minds can reach only one conclusion. *Sherman v. State*, 127 Wash.2d 164, 183, 905 P.2d 355 (1995). Both the lower court's correctly concluded this is such a case. Any contradictory versions of testimony from Haley and Nelson about what happened in the hotel room on the night of April 8 are simply not *material*, in light of the District's duty to obtain emergency medical care *if needed* and for any other injuries, to ensure parental notification. *See Blakely v. Hous. Auth. of King Cty.*, 8 Wash. App.

204, 209, 505 P.2d 151, 155 (1973) ("the facts shown must be material, *i.e.*, facts upon which the outcome of the litigation depends."); *citing Capitol Hill Methodist Church of Seattle v. City of Seattle*, 52 Wash. 2d 359, 360, 324 P.2d 1113, 1115 (1958) (the disputed facts must be material to the outcome of the litigation).

Plaintiffs raise factual allegations that, they say, a jury could resolve in several different ways. But none of those factual allegations are *material*, in light of the duty here. Both lower courts diligently examined each source of duty alleged by plaintiffs. As to the common law, they both held that Nelson's "duty to Haley was one of reasonable ordinary care under the circumstances. As a chaperone, her duty to Haley is to speak to the child, assess the issue, and inform her to call her parents—which she did." (CP at 773-779 (Trial Court Order at 5)).

As to duties created by District policies, the lower courts properly identified Snohomish's Policy 3431—"Student Illness/Injury"-- as primary. They nonetheless looked at other District policies urged by plaintiff, and rejected the idea of a duty to notify *the teacher* as a material duty—because the teacher's role was then to notify the parents. They also rejected the materiality of a duty to notify the school nurse and Principal—because it was Spring Break. No Principal or nurse were available. Further, the overarching goal of

notifying nurse and Principal was, again, to accomplish parental notification, "which is exactly what Mrs. Nelson accomplished." (CP at 773-779) (Trial Court Order at 5).

Both lower courts also considered and rejected the applicability of RCW 28A.600.190 ("Zackery Lystedt Law") statutory duties, because Haley was not a student-athlete.

Finally, both courts carefully guarded the parental role in decision-making for non-emergency illness or injury ("Haley's parents were in contact with her and were aware of her injury.") CP at 773-779 (Trial Court opinion at 5). This duty analysis was all correct.

Then, having clearly identified the four corners of the District's duty, both courts then held that there were no genuine issues of <u>material</u> fact, because:

a. Haley's situation was undisputedly not an emergency and did not require the procurement of emergency medical care;

(CP at 773-339 (Trial Court Opinion at 6); Unpub. Op. at 12);

And

b. Her parents were "notified of her injury," "had an opportunity to inquire of Haley," "did so," and "did not inquire further of the District, direct a medical evaluation, or instruct that Haley be held out of further activities." (Unpub. Op. at 16).

Both lower courts correctly ruled any dispute was immaterial. Blakely,

8 Wash. App. at 209.

There was no RAP 13.4 magnitude "conflict" with existing law in taking this case away from the jury. The only "factually conflicting" evidence did not put into question whether this injury required a trip to the emergency room (it undisputedly did not); nor create a question of whether parental notification was accomplished (it admittedly was). There is no RAP 13.4(1) basis for review.

B. Foreseeability is Not at Issue

Plaintiff's second basis for review is argued at Petition page 14-16. In it, plaintiffs assert that the trial and appellate court erroneously declined to apply RCW 28A.600.190/Zackery Lystedt Law to establish, as a matter of law, that every student's head injury, no matter how seemingly minor, could indicate a more serious injury. Plaintiffs argue that the lower courts "did not take into account evidence * * * of foreseeable harm." (Petition at 15). They rely on evidence that the District hands out concussion forms to student athletes and their parents, which discuss the potential for developing a serious injury following a seemingly minor head injury. And, they argue that, as a result, the District is charged with record notice, or "foreseeability," that without medical treatment, Haley's seemingly minor head injury might worsen into something more serious. (Petition

at 15-16).

This case does not present that question. It is foreseeable in every case where parents do not seek medical treatment for their injured child, that the child's injury may worsen. That does not change the nature of the District's duty. Foreseeability of a possible worsening does not convert a non-emergency student injury into an emergency. This injury undisputedly did not merit a trip to the emergency room. Haley told her parents "the exact same statements" that she told Nelson. (CP at 773-779 (Trial Court Opinion at 5)). The decision about whether to request, or seek, further non-emergency treatment for Haley belonged to the parents. Whether or not the District could foresee that Haley's injury might get worse without treatment, the District's duty simply does not extend to taking Haley for non-emergency medical treatment, without parental directives to do so.

Plaintiff's arguments are otherwise a backdoor attempt to apply Lystedt-law statutory duties to all students, when the Legislature expressly limited them to student-athletes. RCW 28A.600.190; *Swank v. Valley Christian School*, 188 Wash 2d 663, 398 P3d 1108 (2017). For obvious reasons, both lower courts rejected that proposal. Foreseeability does not create a reviewable issue here.

C. This Case Does Not Present a Substantial Question of Public Interest to Warrant Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Finally, plaintiffs argue that the "substantial public interest" at stake is the "safety of children in the custody of public school districts." (Petition at 16-18). But there is no shortage of case law on the issue of the safety of students in public school. This Court frequently provides detailed analysis of that issue. *See, e.g.,*Hendrickson v. Moses Lake Sch. Dist., 192 Wash. 2d 269, 428 P.3d 1197 (2018); Anderson v. Soap Lake Sch. Dist., 191 Wash. 2d 343, 423 P.3d 197 (2018).

The real gist of plaintiff's argument at Petition page 17-18 is that the gravity of the resulting harm, here, was serious. But this Court does not accept review simply because the resulting harm of an event was serious. "To determine whether a case involves the requisite public interest, we consider (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination to provide future guidance to public officers, and (3) the likelihood that the question will recur. *Thomas v. Lehman*, 138 Wash.App. 618, 622, 158 P.3d 86 (2007) (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Mines, 146 Wash.2d 279, 285, 45 P.3d 535 (2002)). Here, there is

no "open question" with any immediate affect on significant segments of the population or a direct bearing on commerce, finance, labor, industry, or agriculture." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wash. 2d 574, 578, 122 P.3d 903, 905 (2005).

For decades, students who become ill or injured in school custody have been instructed to "call home." Parents or guardians have then either picked up the child from school, requested that the school call an ambulance, or have provided instructions to have the child remain at school. Absent parental instructions, schools have *never* had a duty to unilaterally transport children for medical treatment of a non-emergency illness or injury. Unless this Court is prepared to undercut parental autonomy over medical decision-making, and to impose an incredible new medical/financial burden on school districts, there is no substantial public issue here. There is no RAP 13.4(b)(4) basis for review.

IV. CONCLUSION

This case does not present any novel issues. It was decided by reiterating that a school district's duty of ordinary care toward an injured student turns on the nature of an injury. A District has a duty to procure emergency medical care for injuries that require emergency medical treatment, until a parent can assume responsibility.

Conversely, a District's duty toward a <u>non</u>-emergency student injury is to ensure parental notification. After parental notification occurs, medical decision-making power over such injuries and treatment belongs to the parent. The District's duty can, and must, end with notifying the parent—any other rule regarding non-emergency care is completely unworkable.

Here, once the scope of the District's duty was identified, and the non-emergency nature of Haley's injury was established, there simply was no evidence of a breach of that duty. Haley's injury was not an emergency and her parents were notified but chose not to request or direct further medical assessment.

This Court should deny review.